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The Date When Full Compliauce Will Be Achieved

Cooper Nuclear Station is presently in full compliance. Discussions
with Chemistry and Health Physics personnel concerning this violation
will be completed by October 1, 1982,

Statement of Violation

10CFR20.203(b), "Caution signs, labels, signals, and controls", requires
that each rudiation area be conspicuously posted with a sign or signs
bearing th: radiation caution symbol and the words, "CAUTION RADIATION
AREA".

Contrary to this requirement, you failed to pos* the rac‘ation area created
by a box of radiocactive material stored outside the reacter rail track air-
lock.

Discussion

Procedure 9.1.2.2, "Area Posting and Access Control", which was reviewed
by the NRC inspeztor (with no violations or deviations noted), states that
"an 18 inch criteria shall be used to determine the postinrg requirement
for Radiation and High Radiation Areas". This 18 inch distance from the
surface was agreed upon with Region IV inspector during the coirse and
“ollowup of an inspection conducted in Juae of 1978.

Corrective Steps Which Have bheen Taken and Results Achieved

As was stated in the inspection report, the box was moved to a posted
radiation area.

Corrective 3teps Which Have Been Taken to Avoid Further Violaticns

We disagree that this was a violation. The inspector measured 5 mRem/Lir
at 12 inches. Using the 18 inch criteria discussed above, the reading
would not be greater than 5 mRem/hr and therefore did not constitute

a radiation area.

Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

We are presently in full compliance.
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Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved

We have reviewed this reported violation and determined the following:

In addition to the Health Physics Daily Log entries described in the
inspection report, the following entries concerning the repair of reactor
water cleanup valve, MO-15, were noted.

6-2-82 (1645) "Covered removal of MO-15 in drywell - gate and stem
still in valve. No B noted using PIC-6A. Since gate is
still seated there may still be water in leg above valve."

6-2-82 (1855) "MO-15 valve replacement 800 v, 1800 - B+y; 4000 - 8

6-2-82 (2340) "Smears from gate & seal of MO-15 together read 22 mr/hr
or v4.5 million dpm. Gate reading w/R0O-2 ~3.5 R/hr."

6-3-82 (0210) Toured drywell, all monitors in service, gate from MO-15
under 2 lead blankets near MO-15 (reading 500 mr/hr
contact). Workers are using eye protection for £."

6-3-82 (0925) "Toured drywell, area at MO-15 reading 500 mR/hr by pipe
being worked on, 2.5 R/hr By contact on pipe opening, 1
R/hr y contact. PCI workers "preping" pipe are using 8
protection."

Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken to Avoid Further Violations

Based on the above noted log entries, we feel the surveys were adequat-
ely documented. However, we agree they could have been more descriptive
with the use of the HP-100 data form as described in the inspection
report. The use of CNS HP-100 data form to document nonroutine su.veys
will be stressed with the Chemistry and Health Physics Technicians.

The Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

Cooper Nucliear Station is presently in full compliance. Discussions
with Chemistry and Health Physics personnel concerning this violation
and the use of HP-100 to document nonroutine surveys will be completed
by October 1, 1982.
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Statement of Violation

10CFR50, Appendix B, Criterion V, requires that activities affecting
quality shall be by written procedures and accomplished in accordance
with these procedures. Technical Specification 6.3.4 requires that
radiation control procedures shall be maintained. Procedure 9.3.6.1,
"Low Volume and High Volume Air Sampler Operation and Calibration",
Section C requires that air sample filters be counted on a beta counter.

Contrary to this requirement, on June 11 and June 16, 1982, you failed
to count on a beta counter air sample filters taken to evaluate airborne
radioactivity levels as required by Procedure 9.3.6.1.

Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved

The resultant isotopic analysis of the two samples in question were
reviewed and the calculated MPC values were found to be correct.

Corrective Steps Which lave Been Taken to Avoid Further Violations

Procedure 9.3.6.1, "Low Volume and High Volume Air Sampler Operation and
Calibration', has been revised. This revision includes the option to
bypass the gross beta count. If a check of the filter with the use of a
pancake-type detector indicates a concentration greater than 3 X 107
uCi/cc gross, the filter will be isotopically analyzed to determine its
MPC ratio. This option allows the MPC value to be calculated in a more
timely manner.

The Cate When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

Cooper Nuclear Station is presently in full ccmnliance.

Statement of Violation

10CFR50, Appendix B, Criterion V, requires that activities affecting
quality shail be by writter procedures and accomplished in accordance
with these procedures. Technical Specification 6.3.4 requires that
radiation control procedures shall be maintained. Procedure 9.1.1.4,
"Special Work Permit", Section VI.B.3 requires that if the Special Work
Permit is required beyond the expiration date, a new Sperial Work Permit
be written and conditions re-evaluated and updated.
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Contrary to this requirement, on June 30, 1982, you extended the ex-
piration date of a Special Work Permit No. 82-5-32, without re-eval-
uating and updating the radiological conditions as required by Procedure
9.1.1.4.,

Corrective Steps Which Have Been Taken and the Results Achieved

Procedure 9.1.1.4, "Special Work Permit", states the expiration date may
be up to one month plus seven days after the approval date. The intent
of this statement was that Special Work Permits (SWP) could be written
to cover up to one calendar month and the seven Jdays allowed SWPs to be
extended so they would not expire on weekends, holidays, or high work
load days. This would also allow the flexibility to extend SWP ex-
piration dates to coincide with normal routine monthly surveys for a
given area in order to keep survey exposures ALARA by allowing one
survey to cover both requirements. The original intent was also to
allow an SWP to be extended up to seven days to coincide with the com
pletion of the work function it covered.

After carefully reading the above procedure statement, it was determined
that the extending of SWPs was not allowed once the expiration date was
written on the SWP.

Corrective Steps Which Will Be Taken to Avoid Further Violations

Procedure 9.1.1.4, "Special Work Permit™, has been revised to allow SWPs
to be extended beyond the expiration date. This extension may be up to,
but not to exceed seven days. This was the original intent and the
wording has been clarified to make this more evident.

Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

We are presently in full compliance.

Please contact me if you have any questions concerning our response.
Sincerely,

J. M. Pilant

Director of Licensing

and Quality Assurance
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